S232946

5

No. \_\_\_\_\_

**IN THE SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA**

**SHEPPARD, MULLIN, RICHTER & HAMPTON LLP,** SUPREME COURT  
*Plaintiff and Respondent,* FILED

v.

MAR - 9 2016

**J-M MANUFACTURING CO., INC.,**  
*Defendant and Appellant.*

Frank A. McGuire Clerk  
Deputy

After a Decision of the Court of Appeal of the State of California,  
Second Appellate District, Division Four, Case No. B256314

The Superior Court of Los Angeles County, Case No. YC067332  
The Honorable Stuart M. Rice, Presiding

**PETITION FOR REVIEW**

\*KEVIN S. ROSEN (SBN 133304)  
THEANE EVANGELIS (SBN 243570)  
BRADLEY J. HAMBURGER (SBN 266916)  
GIBSON, DUNN & CRUTCHER LLP  
333 South Grand Ave.

## ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. May a court rely on non-legislative expressions of public policy to overturn an arbitration award on “illegality” grounds?
2. Can a sophisticated consumer of legal services, represented by independent counsel, give its informed consent to an advance waiver of conflicts of interest?
3. Does a conflict of interest that undisputedly caused no damage to the client and did not affect the value or quality of an attorney’s work automatically (i) require the attorney to disgorge all previously paid fees, and (ii) preclude the attorney from recovering the reasonable value of his unpaid work?

## WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED

When J-M Manufacturing, the world’s largest plastic pipe manufacturer, faced a qui tam action seeking more than \$1 billion in damages, it sought Sheppard Mullin’s representation. Advised by independent counsel, J-M agreed to waive conflicts of interest arising from the firm’s work for other clients on unrelated matters. But after a Sheppard Mullin client with a minor claim in the qui tam action successfully moved to disqualify the firm, J-M refused to pay approximately \$1.1 million in outstanding fees it owed, and sought disgorgement of \$2.7 million it previously paid. The parties arbitrated this fee dispute; the arbitration panel ruled in Sheppard Mullin’s favor; and the trial court confirmed the award.

The Court of Appeal, however, overturned the arbitration award after holding, contrary to numerous decisions of this and other courts, that the conflict waiver was invalid and that the conflict of interest rendered the engagement agreement “illegal” in its entirety. And again departing from

existing authority, the Court of Appeal ruled that, as the result of the conflict, Sheppard Mullin was automatically precluded from retaining or recovering any fees for the 16 months it represented J-M.

This closely watched case presents three legal questions that are of great importance to attorneys in California and their clients and on which the Courts of Appeal are divided.

*First*, the Court of Appeal dramatically expanded the limited judicial review of arbitration awards by endorsing a broad interpretation of the “illegality” exception to the finality of such awards. Because the “Legislature has already expressed its strong support for private arbitration,” an “arbitrator’s decision should be the end, not the beginning, of the dispute,” absent “an explicit *legislative* expression of public policy” or a violation of “a party’s *statutory* rights.” (*Moncharsh v. Heily & Blase* (1992) 3 Cal.4th 1, 10, 32, italics added.) The Court of Appeal’s decision, however, gives trial courts license to vacate arbitration awards based on expressions of public policy that the Legislature never promulgated, including those in the Rules of Professional Conduct. It upends an important area of the law, defies the intent of the Legislature, and cripples the ability of lawyers and their clients to efficiently resolve disputes through private arbitration.

*Second*, this Court should clarify whether and how a sophisticated consumer of legal services that is represented by independent counsel—like J-M here—may agree to advance conflict waivers. Businesses and their lawyers routinely and voluntarily agree to such waivers, yet existing California case law provides them scant guidance. The decision below, which likely will become the leading case on this critical issue absent this Court’s review, fails to account for the realities of the modern legal



marketplace and casts doubt on the viability of a widespread solution to the challenges faced by savvy clients who want to hire counsel of their choosing. The Court of Appeal's decision also empowers sophisticated clients to avoid paying legal fees if any conflict arises during the course of the representation, even if they agreed to waive future conflicts at the outset.

*Third*, the Court of Appeal announced a per se rule that any conflict of interest that arises at any point in the attorney-client relationship automatically (i) requires disgorgement of all fees for legal work after the conflict arose and (ii) precludes the attorney from recovering for the reasonable value of any unpaid work. This new categorical rule—under which Sheppard Mullin was denied recovery of its \$1.1 million in unpaid fees and ordered to disgorge \$2.7 million as a remedy for J-M's tort claims, even though J-M conceded it suffered no damages and that there were no issues with the quality of Sheppard Mullin's work—unsettles California law on this issue. The Court of Appeal's decision also will encourage opportunistic litigation against lawyers and lead to unwarranted windfalls.

## **FACTUAL AND PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND**

### **I. Sheppard Mullin's Representation of J-M**

Sheppard Mullin represented J-M in a qui tam action alleging that J-M misrepresented the strength of its plastic pipe and sold defective pipe to more than 200 governmental entities. (Opn. at p. 3; 1AA53B; 2AA417, 490-491.) One of those entities was South Tahoe Public Utility District, which held 0.0004% of the potential claims at issue. (2AA480.)

After J-M fired its previous law firm (whom it later sued), it reached out to Sheppard Mullin. (2AA473-474, 494-495.) At that time, South Tahoe was not a plaintiff or real party in interest in the qui tam action, but

was listed only as one of hundreds of “Cities & Public Water Agencies” that had allegedly purchased J-M pipe during the relevant period. (Richardson Decl. in Support of Request for Judicial Notice (“RJN Decl.”), Exh. A at pp. 61-67.) A conflict check revealed that a different lawyer in a separate Sheppard Mullin office had finished an unrelated labor arbitration for South Tahoe five months earlier, and the firm had done no work for South Tahoe since. (2AA512-514, 538-540.) South Tahoe had consented twice to advance conflict waivers with Sheppard Mullin, on which the arbitration panel found Sheppard Mullin had relied in good faith. (2AA516-526; 3AA673-674.)

J-M valued the considerable expertise of the two former Assistant U.S. Attorneys who would lead the defense effort. (2AA471, 474-475, 488, 490-492.) J-M’s General Counsel also believed that the firm’s relationships with some of J-M’s potential adversaries in the qui tam action—such as the Los Angeles Department of Water and Power (which had exponentially greater claims than South Tahoe)—would be very useful in attempting to resolve the qui tam action. (2AA474-475, 490-492.)

Sheppard Mullin provided a draft engagement agreement to J-M, and its lead partner discussed the agreement—which included various provisions, including an arbitration clause—at a two-hour meeting with J-M’s General Counsel. (Opn. at p. 5.) J-M’s General Counsel then took several days to consider and edit the agreement with her CEO. (*Id.* at pp. 5-6; 2AA475-478.)

The agreement contained an advance conflict waiver that informed J-M that Sheppard Mullin “may *currently or in the future* represent one or more other clients (including *current*, former, and future clients) in matters involving [J-M],” and that Sheppard Mullin could represent other clients,

“even if the interests of the other client are *adverse* to [J-M] (including appearance on behalf of another client *adverse* to [J-M] *in litigation or arbitration*).” (1AA201, italics added.) The advance waiver explicitly limited the permitted adversity to matters unrelated to the qui tam action, and ensured that Sheppard Mullin would maintain the confidentiality of any information from J-M. (1AA201.)

J-M’s General Counsel and CEO had no comments or revisions to the conflict waiver. (Opn. at pp. 5-6; 2AA477-478, 493.) J-M did, however, negotiate a 22% discount on Sheppard Mullin’s rates. (2AA477.) J-M’s General Counsel never denied reading or understanding the conflict waiver, and she has never suggested that the provision should be construed contrary to its plain text. (1AA191-197.)

Roughly 16 months after Sheppard Mullin’s engagement, South Tahoe moved in federal court to disqualify Sheppard Mullin. (Opn. at p. 6.) Relying in good faith on both South Tahoe’s and J-M’s advance conflict waivers, Sheppard Mullin had provided approximately 16 hours of unrelated labor advice to South Tahoe while representing J-M. (2AA512-514.) No confidential information concerning either client was ever disclosed or used. (3AA677, 2AA513-514.) The federal court indicated that, under certain modest conditions, it would “permit[] Sheppard Mullin to continue to represent J-M ... because of [South Tahoe’s] ‘minor’ role in the Qui Tam Action.” (2AA484-485.) The court suggested the parties reach an arrangement so that Sheppard Mullin could continue to defend J-M. (2AA501-503.)

J-M encouraged Sheppard Mullin to continue working on the case and to fight disqualification. (2AA482-483, 502-506.) J-M even authorized Sheppard Mullin to propose a settlement to South Tahoe for

more than the value of South Tahoe's claims at Sheppard Mullin's expense, which Sheppard Mullin did. (2AA483-484, 502-504, RJN Decl., Exh. D at pp. 138-139.) But J-M shifted course after its General Counsel received advice that J-M might obtain disgorgement of its previously paid fees if Sheppard Mullin were disqualified. (1AA196-197; 2AA254.) After receiving this advice, J-M refused to resolve the matter with South Tahoe or agree to the federal court's conditions for Sheppard Mullin to remain as counsel. (1AA196-197.) The federal court then was forced to disqualify Sheppard Mullin. (1AA197.)

Sheppard Mullin completed approximately 10,000 hours of work for J-M in the *qui tam* action over 16 months. (Opn. at p. 4.) J-M has stipulated that there were no issues with "the value or quality of Sheppard Mullin's work." (*Id.* at p. 9.) J-M also has stipulated that it "waived ... any claim for costs (fees included) associated with replacing Sheppard Mullin [as counsel]." (*Ibid.*)

## **II. The Arbitration Panel Rules in Sheppard Mullin's Favor, and the Superior Court Confirms the Panel's Award**

When J-M refused to pay its outstanding fees, Sheppard Mullin moved to compel arbitration. (1AA41-53.) J-M initially opposed arbitration, arguing that the engagement agreement was unconscionable and fraudulently induced because Sheppard Mullin had not disclosed its relationship with South Tahoe. (1RA20-37.) After Sheppard Mullin demonstrated that fraud in the inducement and unconscionability are not grounds to avoid arbitration (1RA42-44), J-M repackaged the same arguments and evidence into a claim that the agreement was "illegal." (1AA54-58.) The trial court rejected J-M's arguments and compelled arbitration. (Opn. at pp. 8-9; 1AA59-65.)

Before the arbitration panel—which included a retired federal judge and a retired California Court of Appeal justice—Sheppard Mullin sought recovery of its unpaid fees, while J-M asserted tort cross-claims and, as a remedy, sought disgorgement of all paid fees. (3AA670-672.) The panel decided in Sheppard Mullin’s favor. (3AA670-679.)

The panel ruled that even assuming (but not deciding) that there was a conflict of interest, there is no “automatic” rule that an attorney cannot recover its fees; instead, an “equitable weighing test” applies. (3AA674-676.) The panel found that Sheppard Mullin at all times “acted honestly and in good faith believed that no conflict existed,” and that any ethical violation “was not so serious or egregious as to make appropriate a disgorgement or forfeiture of fees.” (3AA674, 677.) It further found that the conflict did *not*: (1) cause J-M any damage; (2) result in disclosure of J-M’s confidences; (3) render Sheppard Mullin’s representation less effective; (4) adversely affect the value of its services; (5) prejudice J-M’s defense in the *qui tam* action (nor did Sheppard Mullin’s disqualification); nor (6) “pervade [Sheppard Mullin’s] whole relationship” with J-M. (3AA677-678.)

The trial court, in a written opinion, granted Sheppard Mullin’s petition to confirm the arbitration award and denied J-M’s petition to vacate it. (3AA824-829.)

### **III. The Court of Appeal Vacates the Arbitration Award and Orders Sheppard Mullin to Disgorge Its Fees**

On January 29, 2016, the Court of Appeal issued a published opinion reversing the trial court’s order confirming the arbitration award. The Court of Appeal refused to defer to the panel’s award because J-M supposedly “challenged the legality of the contract as a whole,” thereby

requiring judicial review. (Opn. at pp. 13-15.) The Court of Appeal held the engagement agreement was “illegal” because a conflict of interest arose “three weeks after J-M signed the agreement,” and the advance conflict waiver was not “informed written consent” to that conflict. (*Id.* at pp. 17-18.) It also held that the power of courts to vacate arbitration awards on illegality grounds “is not limited to an explicit expression of public policy by the Legislature.” (*Id.* at p. 25.)

Based solely on its conclusion that Sheppard Mullin violated Rule 3-310(C)(3), the Court of Appeal vacated the award and further held that J-M is entitled as a matter of law to disgorgement for its tort claims and Sheppard Mullin is not entitled to any quantum meruit recovery. (Opn. at pp. 26-30.)

The Court of Appeal modified its opinion and denied rehearing on February 26, 2016.

## DISCUSSION

### **I. This Court Should Clarify When Courts Are Permitted to Vacate Arbitration Awards on “Illegality” Grounds**

#### **A. The Court of Appeal’s Unprecedented Expansion of “Illegality” Creates a Gaping Exception to the Statutory Limitations on Judicial Review of Arbitration Awards**

The Court of Appeal’s decision creates a broad loophole to the “comprehensive statutory scheme regulating private arbitration in this state.” (*Moncharsh v. Heily & Blase* (1992) 3 Cal.4th 1, 9 (*Moncharsh*)). Departing from the approach of other Courts of Appeal, and disregarding this Court’s warning against exceptions that “swallow the rule of limited judicial review” of arbitration awards (*id.* at p. 28), the Court of Appeal

here exponentially expanded the previously narrow “illegality” exception to the finality of arbitration awards.

1. “[J]udicial review of private arbitration awards” is limited “to those cases in which there exists a *statutory* ground to vacate or correct the award.” (*Moncharsh, supra*, 3 Cal.4th at p. 28, italics added.) Code of Civil Procedure section 1286.2, subdivision (a), provides the exclusive grounds for vacating an arbitration award. J-M’s petition to vacate the arbitration award was premised solely on the ground that “[t]he arbitrators exceeded their powers.” (Code Civ. Proc., § 1286.2, subd. (a)(4).)

*Loving & Evans v. Blick* (1949) 33 Cal.2d 603 (*Loving*) first recognized “illegality” as falling within the statutory grounds to vacate an arbitration award. This Court held that an arbitrator exceeds his powers when acting pursuant to “contracts which are expressly declared by law to be illegal and against the public policy of the state.” (*Id.* at pp. 609-610.) *Loving* involved a construction contract that was illegal because the contractor had violated statutory licensing requirements. (*Id.* at p. 604.) An arbitration award based on this contract could not “be reconciled with the settled public policy of this state as expressed in our *statutory* law,” because there was “a clear violation of the *statutes* regulating the contracting business.” (*Id.*, at pp. 604, 607, italics added.) Denying judicial review and confirming the arbitration award “would be tantamount to giving judicial approval to acts which are declared unlawful by *statute*.” (*Id.* at p. 612, italics added.)

This Court, four decades later in *Moncharsh*, reaffirmed that illegality may be an appropriate basis for vacating an arbitration award, but clarified that this exception applies only in those “rare cases when according finality to the arbitrator’s decision would be incompatible with

the protection of a *statutory* right.” (*Moncharsh, supra*, 3 Cal.4th at p. 33, italics added.) Grounding the illegality exception in statutory violations and “explicit legislative expression[s] of public policy” is necessary because “the Legislature has already expressed its strong support for private arbitration and the finality of arbitral awards.” (*Id.* at p. 32.) Thus, as this Court recently reiterated, “[a]rbitrators may exceed their powers by issuing an award that violates a party’s *unwaivable statutory rights* or that contravenes an explicit *legislative* expression of public policy.” (*Richey v. AutoNation, Inc.* (2015) 60 Cal.4th 909, 916 (*Richey*), italics added; accord *City of Palo Alto v. Service Employees Internat. Union* (1999) 77 Cal.App.4th 327, 334.)

2. The Rules of Professional Conduct undoubtedly are important regulations of the conduct of attorneys in California, but they are “not intended to create new civil causes of action” or to “create [or] augment ... any substantive legal duty of lawyers or the *non-disciplinary* consequences of violating such a duty.” (Rules Prof. Conduct, rule 1-100(A), italics added.) Because those rules “are approved by the Supreme Court, not the Legislature,” they do not “reflect[] an explicit expression by the *Legislature* of its public policy objectives.” (*Ahdout v. Hekmatjah* (2013) 213 Cal.App.4th 21, 39 (*Ahdout*), italics in original.) This Court thus held in *Moncharsh* that “judicial review of [an] arbitrator’s decision [was] unavailable” where a contract allegedly violated the Rules of Professional Conduct. (*Moncharsh, supra*, 3 Cal.4th at p. 33.) Similarly, *Cotchett, Pitre & McCarthy v. Universal Paragon Corp.* (2010) 187 Cal.App.4th 1405 (*Cotchett*) concluded that “[t]o permit judicial review of [an] arbitrator’s award” based on a violation of the Rules of Professional Conduct “would be contrary to the strong policy favoring the finality of arbitration awards” that the Legislature has adopted. (*Id.* at p. 1418.)



The Court of Appeal's decision is a stark departure from this case law. It holds that the "determination of relevant public policy is not limited to an explicit expression of public policy by the Legislature." (Opn. at pp. 13-14, 25.) And despite this Court's emphasis on the need for "an explicit legislative expression of public policy" (*Richey, supra*, 60 Cal.4th at p. 916; *Moncharsh, supra*, 3 Cal.4th at p. 32), the Court of Appeal held that illegality may be "implied" based on "the language of [a] statute *or rule*." (Opn. at p. 25, quotation marks and citation omitted; italics added.) Based on this sweeping view of illegality, the Court of Appeal overturned the arbitration award based on "the public policies embodied in the California Rules of Professional Conduct." (Opn. at p. 23.)

To justify this result, the Court of Appeal relied on a slew of inapposite cases having nothing to do with arbitration. (Opn. at pp. 23-26.) For example, it invoked *Altschul v. Sayble* (1978) 83 Cal.App.3d 153 (*Altschul*), which stated that "courts have been invested with wide latitude in determining what constitutes public policy," and held that the Rules of Professional Conduct "serve as an expression of public policy" that can render a "contract void as contrary to public policy." (*Id.* at pp. 163-164.) But *Altschul* did not involve an arbitration award, and thus it did not address whether a more limited formulation of illegality applies in that context.

The arbitration context makes all the difference, as *Cotchett* confirms. The Court of Appeal suggested that *Cotchett* supported its decision because the court there had noted that "[f]ee agreements that violate the Rules of Professional Conduct may be deemed unenforceable on public policy grounds." (Opn. at p. 25, quoting *Cotchett, supra*, 187 Cal.App.4th at p. 1417.) But *Cotchett* actually *rejected* the proposition that a "court, rather than an arbitrator, [must] finally determine whether a fee is

unconscionable under the Rules of Professional Conduct,” in light of the “the strong policy favoring the finality of arbitration awards.” (*Cotchett, supra*, 187 Cal.App.4th at p. 1418; see also *Ahdout, supra*, 213 Cal.App.4th at p. 39.) The Court of Appeal’s opinion thus conflicts with the foregoing decisions that have refused to overturn arbitration awards based on a violation of the Rules of Professional Conduct.<sup>1</sup>

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