Supreme Court Case No. S232946

SUPREME COURT

IN THE SUPREME COURT

MAR 3 0 2016

OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

Deputy

a 25(b)

SHEPPARD, MULLIN, RICHTER & HAMPTON, LLP

Plaintiff and Respondent,

v.

J-M MANUFACTURING CO., INC.,

Defendant and Appellant.

Court of Appeal, Second Appellate District, Division Four Case No. B256314

Los Angeles Superior Court Case No. YC067332 Honorable Stuart Rice, Judge

#### ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

#### GREINES, MARTIN, STEIN & RICHLAND LLP

Kent J. Richland, State Bar No. 51413
Barbara W. Ravitz, State Bar No. 86665
Robert A. Olson, State Bar No. 109374
Jeffery E. Raskin, State Bar No. 223608

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

This is nothing new. California case law consistently draws the same distinction. It requires forfeiture as a matter of law when an attorney violates ethical duties by agreeing to represent one client in a suit against another client. (Goldstein v. Lees (1975) 46 Cal.App.3d 614 (Goldstein); Jeffry v. Pounds (1977) 67 Cal.App.3d 6 (Jeffry); A.I. Credit Corp., Inc. v. Aguilar & Sebastinelli (2003) 113 Cal.App.4th 1072 (A.I. Credit Corp.).) That situation is deemed so serious as to require forfeiture as a matter of law; by contrast, minor "technical violations" of conflict rules may allow some balancing of the equities. (A.I. Credit Corp., supra, 113 Cal.App.4th at p. 1079; see Jeffry, supra, 67 Cal.App.3d at p. 12 [for serious violations, forfeiture is as a matter of law; reversing trial court's finding that no ethical violation occurred and instructing that forfeiture is mandatory].)

Pringle v. La Chapelle (1999) 73 Cal.App.4th 1000, illustrates the distinction. There, an attorney defended aligned (not adverse) parties—a corporation and a corporate officer—against a harassment claim. (*Id.* at p. 1002.) Both the officer and the corporation waived the potential conflict, but the corporation's waiver was signed by the wrong corporate officer. (*Id.* at pp. 1004-1005.) Pringle held that the officer could not avoid paying his own legal fees by relying on a purely technical problem with the corporation's waiver of a purely potential conflict. (*Id.* at pp. 1005-1006.)

By contrast, *A.I. Credit Corp.* made clear an equity-balancing test is neither necessary nor appropriate for disqualifiable *actual* conflicts committed when an attorney represents one client in a suit against another of his clients. (*A.I. Credit Corp., supra*, 113 Cal.App.4th at p. 1079.)

That has long been the law. The attorney forfeits his fees even when no relevant confidential information could have been revealed. (*Jeffry, supra*, 67 Cal.App.3d at pp. 9-10.) This rule applies even when the attorneys did not act

"with dishonest purpose or deliberate unethical conduct." (*Id.* at p. 11.) And it holds regardless whether the client suffered harm or disgorgement may result in a "windfall" for the client. (*Goldstein, supra*, 46 Cal.App.3d at pp. 623-624 [rejecting argument; windfall is irrelevant; forfeiture is not for client's sake, but because courts do not give effect to illegal contracts]; cf. Petition, pp. 23, 29.) Indeed, this Court cited this line of cases approvingly, noting that courts disallow compensation in cases of direct conflicts because those cases involve "violations of a rule that proscribed the very conduct for which compensation was sought." (*Huskinson & Brown, LLP v. Wolf* (2004) 32 Cal.4th 453, 463 [distinguishing such violations from lesser ethical violations involving fee-sharing agreements between attorneys, where referral fee-splitting is not permissible, but quantum meruit is allowable to collect for actual services performed].)

In sum, the Court of Appeal *agreed* with the position advanced by the Petition that not every violation of ethical and conflict rules goes to the heart of the attorney-client relationship. (Petition, p. 29.) But, the *kind* of violation is crucial. Some violations are so serious as to require forfeiture.

- II. THERE IS NO CONFLICT AMONG THE COURTS OF APPEAL THAT NEEDS TO BE SETTLED.
  - A. There Is No Conflict In California Law Regarding Review Of Illegality Of Contracts.
    - 1. The Courts of Appeal consistently hold that limited judicial review applies only to the arbitral issues of particular-provision illegality—not illegality of the entire contract.

The Petition points to a number of decisions it claims conflict with the Court of Appeal's analysis of judicial review of contractual illegality. There is no conflict. There is just a distinction between the review of *court* decisions regarding

entire-contract illegality and arbitral decisions regarding single-provision illegality—a distinction recognized by the opinion and cases before it (§ I.A., ante). For example:

- Paragon Corporation (2010) 187 Cal.App.4th 1405, 1418 "rejected the proposition" that contract illegality was to be decided by the courts. (Petition, pp. 11-12.) Not so. Cotchett is a particular-provision illegality case that was properly subject to arbitration: "UPC makes no claim that the arbitration clause in the retainer agreement was itself invalid or unenforceable, or that the fee dispute should not have been submitted to JAMS." (Cotchett, supra, 187 Cal.App.4th at p. 1417, italics added.) The appellant challenged only the unconscionability of a single provision—the amount of fees—that did not go to the very heart of the attorney-client relationship created by the engagement agreement. (Ibid.)
- A number of cases require an explicit legislative expression of public policy (under the narrower arbitration-review standard) to vacate the award. (Petition, p. 10.) But those cases did not involve challenges to the entire agreement. Instead, they were all particular-provision disputes, requiring limited judicial review of the arbitrator's determination. (E.g., City of Palo Alto v. Service Employees Internat. Union (1999) 77 Cal.App.4th 327, 338-339 [arbitrator's award of reinstatement as a remedy violated public policy].) When those cases considered claims of entire-contract as well as particular-provision illegality, they articulated the distinction between the two types of challenges. (E.g., Ahdout, supra, 213 Cal.App.4th 21, 33-38 [first

deciding that agreement was not entirely illegal and thus not subject to review under *Loving*; then considering partial-illegality rule that required limited judicial review].)

### 2. The decision creates no conflict regarding challenges to the entire contract.

Relying on *Loving, supra,* 33 Cal.2d 603, the Petition argues that a contract can only be entirely illegal if it violates a statute. (Petition, p. 9.) But *Loving* did not hold or suggest that this is the *only* way a contract can be entirely illegal. A contract is unlawful when it is contrary to an express provision of law; a policy of express law, though not expressly prohibited; or otherwise contrary to good morals. (Civ. Code, § 1667.) It is well established that a contract can be illegal when it violates non-statutory rules and regulations, e.g., ethical rules, as the Opinion's authorities establish. (Opn., pp. 24-26.)

The Petition fares no better in its next argument: The assertion that the decision creates "confusion" about what constitutes a challenge to the illegality of an entire agreement. (Petition, pp. 14-16.)

The public policy violation here infects the entire agreement; it undermines the "very foundation of the attorney-client relationship" that was the subject of the engagement agreement. (Opn., pp. 22-26.) The violation permeates the relationship. The Opinion devotes page after page to explaining how the ethical violation of the duty of loyalty here strikes to the heart of the relationship.

That is the direct opposite of the cases that the Petition describes as conflicting. (E.g., *Ahdout, supra*, 213 Cal.App.4th at pp. 24-25, 36 [provision calling for an unlicensed contractor to work for LLC did not "infect the entire" LLC operating agreement that principally defined the company's structure, each parties' capital contributions, members' rights, management duties, and terms for

dissolution]; *Epic Medical Management, LLC v. Paquette, supra,* 244 Cal.App.4th at p. 513 [only a referral provision of the contract was allegedly illegal; the overall agreement was one for management services, of which referrals played only an "incidental" part].)<sup>1</sup>

## B. There Is No Conflict In California Law Regarding Advance Conflict Waivers.

The Petition is completely silent regarding any conflict among the Courts of Appeal regarding advance conflict waivers. The Court of Appeal considered and distinguished two cases. (Opn., pp. 18-22.) It devoted nearly four pages to the topic, explaining that those cases presented drastically different facts—in both, the attorney identified the *potential* conflict with sufficient specificity so that the waiver constituted informed consent. (*Ibid.*) The Petition does not disagree.

California has not adopted the ABA Model Rules approach to advance conflict waivers that the Petition promotes. No California case has approved that standard. Attempts to relax the ethical rules applicable here to resemble that standard have not succeeded. The law is uniform and consistent.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The Petition also argues that the conflict of interest did not go to the *entire* contract because the agreement "appl[ied] to other engagements" between J-M and the firm. (Petition, p. 15.) The issue was not raised below and amounts to nothing more than an argument that the Court of Appeal got the facts wrong in this particular case. In any event, the agreement states that its "purpose" is "to confirm our engagement by [J-M] to represent it *in connection with the Litigation*," that is "the lawsuit filed by Qui Tam plaintiff." (1 AA 199, italics added.) If the contract was ethically barred in its main purpose—the *only* purpose for which the firm charged J-M fees—it was barred in its entirety.

- C. There Is No Conflict In California Law Regarding Disgorgement
  And Forfeiture When An Attorney Represents One Client In
  Litigation Against Another Client.
  - 1. The decision does not conflict with the distinct rules allowing disgorgement as a *tort* remedy.

The Petition asserts that *Slovensky v. Friedman* (2006) 142 Cal.App.4th 1518 (*Slovensky*) and *Fair v. Bakhtiari* (2011) 195 Cal.App.4th 1135 (*Fair*) reach different results from this case. Not so. These decisions require damages proof for an award of disgorged fees as a "tort" remedy. (Petition, pp. 23-26.) But the Court of Appeal did not purport to award disgorgement as a *tort* remedy. It did so as a *contract* and *equitable* remedy. The entire point of the decision was that the engagement agreement was entirely illegal and "void" as a violation of public policy, not as a matter of tort law. The Court of Appeal said this again and again. (Opn., pp. 2-3, 11-16, 22-26.)

Disgorgement of compensation received under a void contract is consistent with contract principles. Public policy renders the contract unenforceable and requires the undoing of the contract's end. *Fair* itself recognized that given serious ethical violations, attorneys can be prohibited from recovering fees without any showing that the ethical violation caused damages. (Petition, p. 25, citing *Fair*, *supra*, 195 Cal.App.4th at pp. 1153-1154.) Proof of damages is *not* required when an ethical violation is "sufficient to warrant voiding of an agreement," because in contract cases forfeiture is not a form of compensatory damages. (*Fair*, *supra*, 195 Cal.App.4th at p. 1153.) As the decision here puts it, J-M's damages are irrelevant because the firm's violation was so "serious" and "central" to the attorney-client relationship as to render the agreement unenforceable. (Opn., pp. 22-29 & fn. 10.)

Slovensky, on the other hand, did not consider a contract claim, much less whether disgorgement was an appropriate contract remedy. In Slovensky, the plaintiff brought only *tort* claims for legal malpractice and breach of fiduciary duty based on misrepresentations. (Slovensky, supra, 142 Cal.App.4th at pp. 1521, 1533-1535.)

## 2. There is no conflict in the cases. No conflict exists as to the degree of ethical violation requiring attorney fee forfeiture.

Nor is there a conflict as to what circumstances require disgorgement. The cases that the Petition cites involve mere technical violations of the conflict rules, issues concerning potential conflicts, or other violations of the Rules of Professional Responsibility that are not "serious." (Mardirossian & Associates, Inc. v. Ersoff (2007) 153 Cal.App.4th 257, 278 [representing two co-plaintiffs in litigation against a third party is not so egregious as to require forfeiture when "at most, a potential conflict of interest existed" and both clients provided their written consent and acknowledged the opportunity to consult outside counsel concerning the issue]; Frye v. Tenderloin Housing Clinic, Inc. (2006) 38 Cal.4th 23, 48 [forfeiture not warranted simply because non-profit legal corporation failed to register with State Bar; no issue of conflicting representations]; Slovensky, supra, 142 Cal.App.4th at pp. 1534-1536 [disgorgement not required when attorneys' misrepresentation or concealment causes no harm; representation of two, aligned plaintiffs is not inherently serious violation particularly where it allows plaintiff to recover a greater settlement than if she was separately represented]; Sullivan v. Dorsa (2005) 128 Cal.App.4th 947, 951, 964-965 [in property sale, attorney's dual representation of referee and prospective purchaser is not necessarily serious].)

Such cases do not conflict with the very different test applied to the distinct "serious" actual conflict situation here (or in *Goldstein*, *Jeffry*, or *A.I. Credit Corp.*). Different factual scenarios do not create different rules.

## III. THERE IS NO BASIS FOR THE PETITION'S "SKY IS FALLING" CLAIMS NOR ARE THEY A BASIS FOR REVIEW.

The Petition makes a number of arguments, proclaiming vast, untoward results if the Court of Appeal decision is left standing. Those arguments are baseless. The sky is not falling. Hyperbole creates no basis for review.

For instance, the Petition claims that the Opinion's supposedly new rules for determining whether a contract is entirely illegal will have widespread impact in disputes between attorneys and their clients, applying to everything from malpractice claims to fee disputes. (Petition, p. 13.) Nonsense. As demonstrated above, the rule is not "new"—it is a rule that this Court has repeatedly declared. And the decision makes plain that its scope is limited. It explains at length that (1) the rule applies only to challenges to the legality of the *entire* contract containing an arbitration provision (Opn., pp. 12-16) and (2) the entire contract here was rendered illegal only because of the serious nature of the ethical violation—a clear violation of the duty of loyalty by representing one client in a suit against another client. It explains that the key ingredient is that the violation strikes at "the very foundation of an attorney-client relationship" and the "paramount concern . . . to preserve the public's trust in the scrupulous administration of justice and the integrity of the bar." (Opn., pp. 16-26.)

There is no reason to think that every fee dispute and every act of malpractice rises to this level. Nor is there reason to think that generic fee disputes and ordinary acts of malpractice could render an entire contract invalid. At most, a fee dispute might challenge the legality of a single provision of the overall contract

that creates the attorney-client relationship. Under *Moncharsh* and the decision here, such a claim would be arbitrable and the arbitrator's determination would be subject to limited judicial review. (§ I.A., *ante*.)

Likewise, there is no basis for the claim that the decision "casts doubt on the viability of *all* advance waivers under virtually *any* circumstances." (Petition, pp. 16-17, italics in original.) That's pure exaggeration. The decision acknowledged and distinguished the two "advance waiver" cases that the Petition relied on—a California decision and a federal decision decided in California. (Opn., pp. 19-22 [discussing *Zador Corp. v. Kwan* (1995) 31 Cal.App.4th 1285 and *Visa U.S.A. Inc. v. First Data Corp.* (N.D.Cal. 2003) 241 F.Supp.2d 1100].) It is difficult to imagine how the Opinion casts doubt on *all* advance conflict waivers when it factually distinguishes cases where an advance conflict waiver was approved because it provided sufficient detail to provide informed consent.

Nor is the decision an obstacle to California adopting the so-called trend toward permitting expansive advance conflict waivers, should ethical rule changes be submitted through the normal rule-making channels. But, to date, California has considered and decided not to adopt such a change.

#### **CONCLUSION**

There is no basis for review. There is no unresolved legal issue. There is no conflict in the law. There is just a law firm dissatisfied with established existing law and an appellate decision based on the particular facts in this case.